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United States Bankruptcy Court,

D. New Mexico.
InreFeliciaA. SANCHEZ, Debtor.
Inre Mary Pat Norfolk, Debtor.

In re Hannelore Harlan, Debtor.

In re Theodore Alex Chacon and Lorene Marie
Chacon, Debtors.

In re Kathleen A. Booky, Debtor.

In re Jolene C. Dickey, Debtor.

In re Leon Mares, Debtor.

United States Trustee, Plaintiff,

V.

Timothy Mclntire d/b/a The Bankruptcy Store,
LLC, Defendant.

Bankruptcy Nos. 10-10168-s7, 09-14833-s7,
09-15785-7, 10-10015-s7, 10-10173—7,
10-12446-j7, 10-11100-7.
Adversary Nos. 10-1059 J, 10-1064 J, 10-1063 J,
10-1065J, 10-1060J, 10-1111J, 10-1112J.
Feb. 28, 2011.

Background: United States Trustee (UST) brought
adversary proceeding against individual that pre-
pared bankruptcy petitions and schedules for im-
properly giving legal advice in violation of Code
provision regulating conduct of bankruptcy petition
preparers (BPPs). UST sought imposition of fines,
award of damages on debtors' behalf, and grant of
injunctive relief.

Holdings: The Bankruptcy Court, Robert H. Jacob-
vitz, J., held that:

(1) defendant was “bankruptcy petition preparer”;
(2) defendant impermissibly gave “legal advice’;
(3) fine in amount of $150.00 for each instance in
which defendant impermissibly gave legal advice to
client was appropriate;

(4) defendant's impermissible giving of legal advice
that he was not qualified to give was also fraudu-
lent, unfair or deceptive, so as to warrant award of
damages; and
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(5) UST was entitled to injunction, but only against
defendant's giving legal advice, not to prohibit de-
fendant from acting as BPP.

So ordered.
West Headnotes
[1] Bankruptcy 51 €~-3030.7

51 Bankruptcy
511X Administration
51IX(A) In General
51k3030.5 Petition Preparers
51k3030.7 k. Definitions; who is a pre-
parer. Most Cited Cases
Regardless of whether name under which he
solicited clients to allow him to prepare bankruptcy
petitions on their behalf was limited liability com-
pany (LLC) or other separate legal entity, individu-
al who prepared petitions on clients behalf and
signed his name thereto was “bankruptcy petition
preparer,” whose conduct was subject to Code pro-
vision regulating conduct of bankruptcy petition
preparers (BPPs). 11 U.S.C.A. § 110(a)(1).

[2] Attorney and Client 45 €~12(19)

45 Attorney and Client
45| The Office of Attorney
45| (A) Admission to Practice
45k12 Practitioners Not Admitted or Not
Licensed; Unauthorized Practice of Law
45k12(3) What Constitutes Practice of
Law; Prohibited and Permitted Acts
45k12(19) k. Bankruptcy and debt
collection. Most Cited Cases
Statutory list of conduct by bankruptcy petition
preparer (BPP) which will constitute the improper
giving of “legal advice” is not exhaustive, but
merely illustrative of types of conduct that, if en-
gaged in by bankruptcy petition preparer, will con-
stitute impermissible legal advice. 11 U.S.C.A. §
110(e)(2).
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[3] Attorney and Client 45 €=512(19)

45 Attorney and Client
45| The Office of Attorney
45I(A) Admission to Practice
45k12 Practitioners Not Admitted or Not
Licensed; Unauthorized Practice of Law
45k12(3) What Constitutes Practice of
Law; Prohibited and Permitted Acts
45k12(19) k. Bankruptcy and debt
collection. Most Cited Cases
Statutory prohibition against a bankruptcy peti-
tion preparer's (BPP's) giving of any legal advice
“concerning bankruptcy procedures and rights’ is
extraordinarily broad and covers virtually any exer-
cise of discretion about what to include or not to in-
clude in bankruptcy documents. 11 U.S.C.A. §
110(e)(2).

[4] Attorney and Client 45 €-512(19)

45 Attorney and Client
45| The Office of Attorney
45| (A) Admission to Practice
45k12 Practitioners Not Admitted or Not
Licensed; Unauthorized Practice of Law
45k12(3) What Constitutes Practice of
Law; Prohibited and Permitted Acts
45k12(19) k. Bankruptcy and debt
collection. Most Cited Cases
Bankruptcy petition preparer (BPP), by ad-
vising clients which exemption scheme to elect, or
by making decision on behalf of debtor to elect fed-
eral or state exemption statutes, gives impermiss-
ible “legal advice.” 11 U.S.C.A. § 110(e)(2).

[5] Attorney and Client 45 €~12(19)

45 Attorney and Client
45| The Office of Attorney
451(A) Admission to Practice
45k 12 Practitioners Not Admitted or Not
Licensed; Unauthorized Practice of Law
45k12(3) What Constitutes Practice of
Law; Prohibited and Permitted Acts
45k12(19) k. Bankruptcy and debt
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collection. Most Cited Cases

Bankruptcy petition preparer (BPP), in utilizing
computer program to prepare bankruptcy petitions
on his clients' behalf that automatically selected
state law exemptions as default, without any input
from clients or any conscious decision on their part
to claim state law exemptions, engaged in conduct
constituting the impermissible giving of “legal ad-
vice,” as he did more directly by advising clients
what debts would be discharged, which chapter to
file under, and whether debt should be reaffirmed;
decision to run computer program in its default set-
ting was in nature of legal choice that BPP imper-
missibly made for his clients. 11 U.S.C.A. §
110(e)(2).

[6] Bankruptcy 51 €-3030.10

51 Bankruptcy
511X Administration
511X(A) In General
51k3030.5 Petition Preparers
51k3030.10 k. Fines, damages and
costs. Most Cited Cases
Upon finding that bankruptcy petition preparer
(BPP) has engaged in conduct violative of statute
regulating conduct of BPPs, bankruptcy court has
discretion to determine appropriate amount of fine
per violation. 11 U.S.C.A. § 110(1 )(2).

[7] Attorney and Client 45 €=512(19)

45 Attorney and Client
45| The Office of Attorney
45I(A) Admission to Practice
45k12 Practitioners Not Admitted or Not
Licensed; Unauthorized Practice of Law
45k12(3) What Constitutes Practice of
Law; Prohibited and Permitted Acts
45k12(19) k. Bankruptcy and debt
collection. Most Cited Cases

Bankruptcy 51 €~>3030.10

51 Bankruptcy
511X Administration
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511X (A) In Generd

51k3030.5 Petition Preparers

51k3030.10 k. Fines, damages and
costs. Most Cited Cases

Fine in amount of $150.00 for each instance in
which bankruptcy petition preparer (BPP) imper-
missibly gave legal advice to client was appropri-
ate, though court was statutorily authorized to im-
pose fine of up to $500.00 per incident, where BPP
had not previously appeared before court for violat-
ing Code provision which regulated conduct of

BPPs. 11 U.S.C.A. § 110(e)(2), (1 )(1).

[8] Attorney and Client 45 €~212(19)

45 Attorney and Client
45| The Office of Attorney
451(A) Admission to Practice
45k12 Practitioners Not Admitted or Not
Licensed; Unauthorized Practice of Law
45k12(3) What Constitutes Practice of
Law; Prohibited and Permitted Acts
45k12(19) k. Bankruptcy and debt
collection. Most Cited Cases

Bankruptcy 51 €~-3030.10

51 Bankruptcy
511X Administration
51IX(A) In General
51k3030.5 Petition Preparers
51k3030.10 k. Fines, damages and
costs. Most Cited Cases
For those instances in which bankruptcy peti-
tion preparer's impermissible legal advice to clients
involved the nonreporting of certain assets or in-
come on schedules, regardiess of whether clients
actually heeded that advise, per-incident fine of
$150.00 imposed by bankruptcy court would be
trebled. 11 U.S.C.A. § 110(e)(2), (1 )(2).

[9] Attorney and Client 45 €-12(19)

45 Attorney and Client
45| The Office of Attorney
451(A) Admission to Practice
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45k12 Practitioners Not Admitted or Not
Licensed; Unauthorized Practice of Law
45k12(3) What Constitutes Practice of
Law; Prohibited and Permitted Acts
45k12(19) k. Bankruptcy and debt
collection. Most Cited Cases

Bankruptcy 51 €3030.8

51 Bankruptcy
511X Administration
511X(A) In General
51k3030.5 Petition Preparers
51k3030.8 k. Duties, functions and
prohibited conduct. Most Cited Cases

Bankruptcy 51 €~-3030.10

51 Bankruptcy
511X Administration
51IX(A) In General
51k3030.5 Petition Preparers
51k3030.10 k. Fines, damages and
costs. Most Cited Cases
Bankruptcy petition preparer (BPP), in dispens-
ing legal advice that he was not qualified to give,
inter alia, as to what debts would be discharged,
which chapter to file under, and whether debt
should be reaffirmed, engaged in conduct that was
tantamount to “unauthorized practice of law” and
that was also fraudulent, unfair, or deceptive, so as
to warrant award of damages in favor of his former
clients in amount of $2,000 each. 11 U.S.C.A. §
110(3i)(1).

[10] Bankruptcy 51 €--3030.12

51 Bankruptcy
511X Administration
511X (A) In Generd
51k3030.5 Petition Preparers
51k3030.12 k. Injunction. Most Cited
Cases

Injunction 212 €-5138.72

212 Injunction
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2121V Preliminary and Interlocutory Injunctions
2121V (A) Grounds and Proceedings to Pro-
cure
2121V (A)3 Subjects of Relief
212k138.72 k. Public welfare, property
or rights. Most Cited Cases
Bankruptcy petition preparer's (BPP's) fraudu-
lent, unfair, or deceptive conduct, in giving legal
advice that he was in no way qualified to give, inter
alia, as to what debts would be discharged, which
chapter to file under, and whether debt should be
reaffirmed, was such as to warrant entry of prelim-
inary injunction against his providing such legal ad-
vice. 11 U.S.C. § 110(j)(2)(A).

[11] Bankruptcy 51 €~23030.12

51 Bankruptcy
511X Administration
511X(A) In General
51k3030.5 Petition Preparers
51k3030.12 k. Injunction. Most Cited
Cases

Injunction 212 €~-138.72

212 Injunction
2121V Preliminary and Interlocutory Injunctions
2121V (A) Grounds and Proceedings to Pro-
cure
2121V (A)3 Subjects of Relief
212k138.72 k. Public welfare, property
or rights. Most Cited Cases
While bankruptcy petition preparer's (BPP's)
fraudulent, unfair, or deceptive conduct, in giving
legal advice that he was in no way qualified to give,
inter alia, as to what debts would be discharged,
which chapter to file under, and whether debt
should be reaffirmed, was such as to warrant entry
of preliminary injunction against his providing such
legal advice, bankruptcy court would not enjoin
BPP from acting as BPP, where BPP had not previ-
ously appeared before court for violating Code pro-
vision that regulated conduct of BPPs, and while in-
junction had previously been entered against indi-
vidual employed by his company for her improper
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conduct as a BPP, and while this individual had
provided legal advice to some of former clients
who testified against the BPP, there was no evid-
ence that this legal advised was provided after issu-
ance of injunction against her, or that BPP was
aware of thisinjunction or participated with this in-
dividual in knowingly violating it. 11 U.S.C. §

110G)(2)(B).

*533 Leonard K. Martinez—Metzgar, Albuquerque,
NM, for Plaintiff.

Timothy Mclntire, Albuquerque, NM, pro se.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

ROBERT H. JACOBVITZ, Bankruptcy Judge.

THISMATTER is before the Court following a
trial on the merits of these consolidated*534 ad-
versary proceedings. Plaintiff asserts that Defend-
ant Timothy Mclntire d/b/a The Bankruptcy Store,
LLC (“Defendant” or Mr. Mclintire) is a bank-
ruptcy petition preparer within the meaning of 11
U.S.C. § 110(a)(1) and that Defendant violated the
provisions of 11 U.S.C. § 110 by impermissibly
giving legal advice to his clients in connection with
preparing their bankruptcy petitions, statements and
schedules in exchange for a fee of $395.00.
Plaintiff requests the Court to impose fines against
Defendant for each violation, assess damages
against Defendant for fraudulent, unfair, or decept-
ive practices, order Defendant to return to the debt-
ors all fees paid in exchange for Defendant's ser-
vices, and permanently enjoin Defendant, or any
person or entity acting in concert with Defendant,
from acting as a bankruptcy petition preparer in ac-
cordance with 11 U.S.C. § 110(j)(2)(B) and from
soliciting, assisting, advising or providing legal
guidance, advice, assistance or consultation of any
kind to any person in connection with filing a bank-
ruptcy case whether for a fee or without charge. Al-
ternatively, Plaintiff requests that a preliminary and
permanent injunction be issued against Defendant
Timothy Mclntire enjoining him or any person act-
ing in concert with Defendant Timothy Mclntire
from engaging in any conduct that violates 11
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U.S.C. § 110. At the trial held January 25, 2011,
Plaintiff appeared through Leonard Mar-
tinez—Metzgar. Defendant failed to appear.

FN1. No evidence was presented to the
Court regarding whether The Bankruptcy
Store, LLC is, in fact, a business entity
such as a limited liability company, or
whether Timothy Mclintire operated The
Bankruptcy Store, LLC as a sole propriet-
orship.

FN2. The United States Trustee did not
present evidence nor assert a claim that the
$395.00 fee was excessive in light of the
value of the services provided, and the
Court makes no decision regarding the
reasonableness of the fee charged. See 11
U.S.C. § 110(h)(3).

After careful consideration of the evidence
presented at trial, and being otherwise sufficiently
informed, the Court finds that Defendant is a bank-
ruptcy petition preparer as defined under the Bank-
ruptcy Code and that he consistently and imper-
missibly engaged in the practice of law in preparing
bankruptcy petitions, statements, and schedules for
his clients in exchange for a fee. Consequently, the
Court will impose fines and order the disgorgement
of fees consistent with 11 U.S.C. § 110. The Court
will also issue an injunction enjoining Timothy
Mclntire, or any person or entity acting in concert
with him, from offering a potential bankruptcy
debtor any legal advice in violation of 11 U.S.C. §
110(e)(2). However, because there is insufficient
evidence before the Court from which the Court can
conclude at this stage in the proceedings that an in-
junction prohibiting further conduct will be insuffi-
cient to deter Defendant's continued violations of
11 U.S.C. § 110, the Court declines at this time to
issue an injunction that prohibits Defendant from
acting as a bankruptcy petition preparer.

BACKGROUND AND FINDINGS OF FACT
Six former clients who obtained services from
the Defendant testified at trial. Plaintiff offered af-
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fidavit testimony from a seventh client who was un-
available to testify in person. The testimony of all
seven clients was generally the same. The clients
got the name of The Bankruptcy Store from the
phone book, from an advertisement in a newspaper,
or from an advertisement on the internet, and made
an appointment. Each client typically had three or
four meetings at The Bankruptcy Store. At the first
meeting, a cash payment for services was required,
and the *535 clients would obtain a questionnaire
to take home and complete. At the second
meeting, the clients would return the completed
guestionnaire and bring with them documentation
of other bills and income. At the third meeting, De-
fendant would provide the clients with the com-
pleted bankruptcy petition, statements and sched-
ules, and tell the clients to file the paperwork with
the Bankruptcy Court. A fourth meeting was some-
times required if corrections were needed based
upon paperwork provided by the client at the third
meeting.

FN3. No copy of the questionnaire was
offered or admitted into evidence at trial.

None of the clients who testified knew the
meaning of state or federal exemptions, and none
made a conscious decision to elect or claim exemp-
tions under state law rather than under 11 U.S.C. §
522(d). Yet, each of the clients had a completed
Schedule C filed in their bankruptcy case which
elected and claimed state law exemptions. Further,
none of the clients understood the meaning of the
presumption of abuse under 11 U.S.C. § 707(b)(2),
yet each Form B22A reflected a check in the box
indicating that the presumption of abuse did not
arise. The clients each paid $395.00 for the services
they obtained. Each petition reflects that the name
of the bankruptcy petition preparer is “The Bank-
ruptcy Store LLC Tim Mclntire” and bears the sig-
nature of Timothy Mclntire. See Exhibits 3, 8, 16,
24, 3, 35, and 40. There is no evidence that
Timothy Mclntire is a licensed attorney authorized
to practice law in the State of New Mexico.

Because the specific circumstances concerning
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each client who testified were glightly different, the
Court will also make separate findings specific to
each debtor.

Mary Norfolk

Mary Norfolk testified that she went to The
Bankruptcy Store and met with Pamela Brown. At
the time Ms. Norfolk filed for bankruptcy, she
owned a home that was the subject of a short sale.
Ms. Norfolk testified that Ms. Brown advised her to
omit her home from Schedule A. The origina
Schedule A filed in Ms. Norfolk's bankruptcy case
did not reflect any property. At the meeting of cred-
itors, the Chapter 7 trustee determined that Ms.
Norfolk did, in fact, still own her home as of the
petition date and directed her to file an Amended
Schedule A. When Ms. Norfolk failed to timely file
an Amended Schedule A, the Chapter 7 Trustee
filed a motion to dismiss. Ms. Norfolk eventually
obtained an amended Schedule A from Timothy
Mclntire at The Bankruptcy Store who charged her
an additional $50.00 to complete the Amended
Schedule A.

Jolene Dickey

Ms. Dickey sought bankruptcy relief because
she was concerned about outstanding state and fed-
eral income taxes. Ms. Dickey testified that she met
with Timothy Mclintire at The Bankruptcy Store,
and that he assured her that her past due taxes
would be discharged through the bankruptcy. Mr.
Mclntire chose to list Ms. Dickey's tax liabilities on
Schedule F, Non—Priority Unsecured Claims.

Leon Mares

Leon Mares did not testify because he was re-
covering from surgery at the time of the trial. His
non-filing spouse, Kimberly Mares, who attended
all of the meetings at The Bankruptcy Store, testi-
fied at trial. Ms. Mares testified that she and Mr.
Mares went to The Bankruptcy Store three times:
the first meeting was with Pamela Brown, and the
second and third meetings were with Timothy
Mclntire.

Ms. Mares testified that Mr. Mclntire advised
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her to reaffirm a debt secured by a Har-
ley—Davidson motorcycle because her *536 name
was also on the loan, advised her and her husband
to file Chapter 7 rather than Chapter 13, assured
them that their 2005 tax debt would be discharged,
told them that the services they would receive
would be the equivalent to those they could expect
to receive from an attorney but at a greatly reduced
cost, selected the state exemption scheme, and ad-
vised Ms. Mares to omit her income from Schedule
| because she was a nonfiling spouse. Ms. Mares
testified further that when she insisted that her in-
come be reported on Schedule I, Mr. Mclntire told
her that it really made no difference what amounts
were reported on Schedule | for her income because
it was unnecessary to include income of a nonfiling
spouse. Ms. Mares testified that although her gross
income reported on Schedule | was essentialy cor-
rect, the handwritten figures Mr. Mclntire used on
the schedule for her payroll deductions were not ac-
curate.

Hannelore Harlan

Ms. Harlan testified that when she went to The
Bankruptcy Store for assistance in completing her
petition, statements and schedules, she met with
Pamela Brown the first two times, and met with Mr.
Mclintire one time. Ms. Harlan testified that she
does not know what an exemption is nor is she
aware of the difference between state and federal
exemptions.

Kathleen Booky

Ms. Booky testified that she had four meetings
with The Bankruptcy Store. She testified that Mr.
Mclintire told her that her tax debts would be
“dismissed” through the bankruptcy, and that she
should file a petition under Chapter 7 of the Bank-
ruptcy Code. Mr. Mclntire determined where to list
the tax claims in Ms. Booky's bankruptcy sched-
ules.

Theodore Chacon

Mr. Chacon testified that he met with both
Pamela Brown and Timothy Mclntire, and that Mr.
Mclntire advised him to file for relief under
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Chapter 7 rather than under Chapter 13. Mr.
Chacon also testified that after Mr. Mclntire pre-
pared the petition, statements and schedules based
on the material Mr. Chacon provided in the com-
pleted questionnaire and documents that Mr.
Mclintire provided to him the first meeting, Mr.
Chacon asked for certain corrections to the bank-
ruptcy documents. The Bankruptcy Store made
those corrections before Mr. Chacon filed the peti-
tion, statement of financial affairs, and schedules
with the Bankruptcy Court. Mr. Chacon testified
that Mr. Mclntire told him that The Bankruptcy
Store was providing “paralegal” services.

Felicia Sanchez

The deposition testimony of Felicia Sanchez
reflects that she met with Timothy Mclntire, that
she asked Mr. Mclntire to explain the difference
between Chapter 7 and Chapter 13, that based on
his explanation she decided Chapter 7 would be
better, and that Mr. Mclintire told her to check the
box to reaffirm the debt on her Harley—Davidson
motorcycle so that she could keep it. At the meeting
of creditors, when asked about Schedule C and the
state exemption statute, Ms. Sanchez did not have
any idea what those numbers meant.

DISCUSSION
Defendant engaged in conduct that violates 11
U.SC. §110
[1] The Bankruptcy Code defines bankruptcy
petition preparers as follows:

a person, other than an attorney for the debtor or
an employee of such attorney under the direct su-
pervision of such attorney, who prepares for com-
pensation a document for filingf[.]

*537 11 U.S.C. § 110(a)(1).

“Document for filing” is further defined as
a petition or any other document prepared for fil-
ing by a debtor in a United States bankruptcy
court or a United States district court in connec-
tion with a case under thistitle.
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11 U.S.C. § 110(3)(2).

Based on the evidence before the Court it is
clear that Timothy Mclntire doing business as The
Bankruptcy Store, LLC (regardless of whether The
Bankruptcy Storeis, in fact, alimited IiabilitH\:&m—
pany or some other separate business entity) is
a bankruptcy petition preparer as that term is
defined under the Bankruptcy Code. Mr. Mclntire
designated himself as the individual responsible for
the bankruptcy petition preparer's preparation of the
petitions, schedules, and statements of financial af-
fairs filed by the debtors in each of the chapter 7
cases. He designated himself as well as The Bank-
ruptcy Store LLC as the bankruptcy petition pre-
parer on each of the petitions for relief filed to
commence the chapter 7 cases, and included his so-
cial security number on each petition. Further, Mr.
Mclntire was not acting under the direct supervi-
sion of alicensed attorney. The evidence before the
Court further establishes that Pamela Brown also
worked in the offices of The Bankruptcy Store for
some period of time and met with some of the debt-
or clients at some of the scheduled meetings. To the
extent Ms. Brown made representations to the cli-
ents which were adopted as part of the bankruptcy
petition, statements and schedules prepared by The
Bankruptcy Store, such representations are likewise
attributable to Mr. Mclntire. His name is reflected
as the bankruptcy petition preparer on the petitions
filed for the clients that testified in this adversary
proceeding, and he signed each petition on behalf
of “The Bankruptcy Store LLC Tim Mclntire” as
Timothy Mclntire.

FN4. Cf. In re Hennerman, 351 B.R. 143,
148-149 (Bankr.D.Co0l0.2006) (finding
that the principal of an internet-based busi-
ness using the name American Bankruptcy
was a bankruptcy petition preparer as
defined under the bankruptcy code regard-
less of whether American Bankruptcy was
a validly existing artificial entity). Here,
each petition for relief lists “The Bank-
ruptcy Store LLC Tim Mclntire” as the pe-
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tition preparer, and is signed by Timothy
Mclintire. Similarly, the Disclosure of
Compensation filed in the Debtors cases
identifies Timothy Mclntire on line 6
(which states that “no other person has pre-
pared for compensation a document for fil-
ing in connection with this bankruptcy ex-
cept as listed below”), is signed by
Timothy Mclntire, and lists The Bank-
ruptcy Store LLC as the printed name and
title, if any, of Bankruptcy Petition Pre-
parer, with an address of Tim Mclntire
8400 Menaul # 1-118, Albuquerque, New
Mexico 87112. When a bankruptcy peti-
tion preparer is not an individual, an of-
ficer, principal, responsible person, or part-
ner of a bankruptcy petition preparer must
sign the petition and provide the name and
address of the signing officer, principal, re-
sponsible person, or partner. 11 U.S.C. §
110(b)(1). Nevertheless, a principal of a
business entity that is a bankruptcy petition
preparer can be held jointly and severally
liable for fines imposed under 11 U.S.C. §
110. See, eg., Felicia S. Turner v. Burn-
worth (In re Carrier), 363 B.R. 247, 259
(Bankr.M.D.Fla.2006) (imposing fines
jointly and severally against Stacey Burn-
worth, individually, and against her busi-
ness entity, Paraeagle Paperworks, Inc. for
violating 11 U.S.C. § 110).

[2][3][4] Among the conduct proscribed by 11
U.S.C. § 110 is offering lega advice by a bank-
ruptcy petition preparer to potential bankruptcy
debtors. 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2)(A). “Legal advice”
within the meaning of 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2) in-
cludes advising the debtor:

(i) whether—
() to file a petition under thistitle; or

(I1) commencing a case under chapter 7, 11, 12,
or 13 is appropriate;
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*538 (ii) whether the debtor's debts will be dis-
charged in a case under thistitle;

(iii) whether the debtor will be able to retain the
debtor's home, car, or other property after com-
mencing a case under thistitle;

(iv) concerning—

() the tax consequences of a case brought un-
der thistitle; or

(1) the dischargeability of tax claims;

(v) whether the debtor may or should promise to
repay debts to a creditor or enter into a reaffirma-
tion agreement with a creditor to reaffirm a debt;

(vi) concerning how to characterize the nature of
the debtor's interests in property or the debtor's
debts; or

(vii) concerning bankruptcy procedures and
rights.

11 U.S.C. § 110()(2).

This list of examples is not exhaustive, but
merely illustrative of the types of conduct that, if
offered by a bankruptcy petition pr%pl\?%a, consti-
tutes impermissible legal advice. Further,
“[t]he prohibition on giving advice, ‘concerning
bankruptcy procedures and rights' is extraordinarily
broad [ 1" and covers “[v]irtually any exercise of
discretion about what to include or not include in
the bankruptcy documents.” Hennerman, 351 B.R.
at 151-152 (quoting 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2)(B)(vii)).
Advising clients which exemption scheme to elect,
or making the decision on behalf of the debtor to
elect federal or state exemption statutes, constitutes
impermissible legal advice under 11 U.S.C. §
110(e)(2).

FN5. See 11 U.S.C. § 102(3), which
provides that the term “includes,” when
used in the Bankruptcy Code, is not limit-
ing. See also, In re Bernales, 345 B.R.
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206, 215 (Bankr.C.D.Cal.2006)(noting that
the list in § 110(e)(2)(B) “is neither ex-
clusive nor exhaustive. Rather it is a set of
examples explaining what constitutes legal
advice.”).

FN6. See United States Trustee v. Pamela
Brown (In re Martin), 424 B.R. 496, 508
(Bankr.D.N.M.2010)(finding that the bank-
ruptcy petition preparer violated 11 U.S.C.
8§ 110(e)(2) by “1) instructing debtors
about the need for credit counseling, 2) de-
ciding under which chapter to file, 3) de-
ciding whether debtors should include cer-
tain properties or debts on the schedules,
4) choosing exemption schemes on behalf
of the debtors and then applying them to
the debtors' properties, 5) determining how
to characterize secured, unsecured and pri-
ority debts, 6) determining whether the
presumption of abuse arises, and 7) in gen-
eral providing advice regarding bankruptcy
procedures and rights.”). See also, In re
Kaitangian, 218 B.R. 102, 110
(Bankr.S.D.Cal.1998) (stating that
“advising of available exemptions from
which to choose, or actually choosing an
exemption for the debtor with no explana-
tion, requires the exercise of legal judg-
ment beyond the capacity and knowledge
of lay persons.”) (citations omitted).

[5] The evidence presented demonstrates that
Mr. Mclintire violated 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2) numer-
ous times. It appears that the Defendant used a pre-
packaged bankruptcy program that completed
Schedule C by selecting state law exemptions as the
default, and automatically applied those exemptions
to the debtor's assets based on raw data input into
the program that each debtor had supplied by com-
pleting a questionnaire. Even if Defendant used a
pre-packaged bankruptcy program in that manner,
such use constitutes the exercise of legal judgment
and the rendition of legal advice. A legal *539
judgment is inherent in electing to use the soft-
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ware's state law default exemption choice because
it necessarily means that a decision was made not to
change the default setting or the manner in which
the computer program applied the state law exemp-
tion scheme to a particular debtor's assets.

FN7. See Patton v. Scholl, 1999 WL
431095, *9 (E.D.Pa. June 28, 1999)
(unreported) (“The choice of appropriate
exemptions based on raw data provided by
debtors is an exercise in legal judgment,....
[r]egardless of what means [the bankruptcy
petition preparer] employed to select ex-
emptions for each debtor, whether con-
sultation with a computer program, a text-
book, or other prepared materials....”). See
also Kaitangian, 218 B.R. a 110
(“choosing an exemption for the debtor ...
requires the exercise of legal judgment
beyond the capacity and knowledge of lay
persons’ even if done using a pre-
packaged bankruptcy program) (citations
omitted). Accord McDow v. Skinner (Inre
Jay), 446 B.R. 227, 249
(Bankr.E.D.Va.2010); In re Farness, 244
B.R. 464, 472 (Bankr.D.ldaho 2000)
(same); In re Reynoso, 315 B.R. 544, 552
(9th Cir. BAP 2004), aff'd, 477 F.3d 1117
(9th Cir.2007) (stating that “[s]olicitation
of information which is then translated into
completed bankruptcy forms is the unau-
thorized practice of law, whether by web-
site or otherwise, asis advising a debtor of
the availability of particular exemptions or
choosing those exemptions.”) (citations
omitted). But see In re Boyce, 317 B.R.
165, 176 (Bankr.D.Utah.2004) (concluding
that under Utah law, the bankruptcy peti-
tion preparer did not engage in the practice
of law by using computer software to cre-
ate the debtor's bankruptcy schedules and
statements, reasoning that there is “little
distinction between a bankruptcy petition
preparer utilizing specialized bankruptcy
software for the preparation of the debtor's
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schedules and statements, and a retail soft-
ware package that performs the same func-
tion for the debtor on the debtor's home
computer.”).

Here, each debtor signed the Schedules, which
included Schedule C, without any understanding of
what exemptions were claimed and without any
conscious decision on their part to claim those ex-
emptions. They relied on Defendant's choices of
what exemptions should be claimed.

Mr. Mclntire also advised three of the debtors
who testified at trial that their taxes would be dis-
charged through the bankruptcy, advised at least
two of the debtors who testified at trial that they
should choose to commence a case under Chapter 7
rather than under Chapter 13, and advised Ms.
Mares, a nonfiling spouse, to enter into a reaffirma-
tion agreement because she was a cosigner with her
husband on the loan secured by a motorcycle. Each
of these incidents constitutes the offering of legal
advicein violation of 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2).

The Trustee asserted that Mr. Mclntire engaged
in the unauthorized practice of law in other re-
spects, including his checking the box on each
bankruptcy petition stating that the Debtor's debts
are primarily consumer debts and checking the box
on page 1 of each filed Official Form 22A that
“The presumption does not arise.” The evidence be-
fore the Court is insufficient to determine whether
these incidents constituted the dispensing of legal
advice in violation of 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2).
Plaintiff did not proffer in evidence any of the
guestionnaires supplied by Defendant and com-
pleted by any of the debtors, nor a sample uncom-
pleted form. The Court cannot, therefore, determine
whether Defendant was merely acting as a scrivener
by following the direction of the debtors on the
completed questionnaires, or whether he decided
for the debtors which of the boxes to check or oth-
erwise gave them any advice in that regard.

Imposition of fines and disgorgement of fees is ap-
propriate
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[6][7] Persons who fail to comply with the re-
quirements of 11 U.S.C. § 110 are subject to the
imposition of fines and penalties. Pursuant to
11 U.S.C. § 110(] )(1), the Court may impaose a fine
of up to *540 $500.00 for each violation. " The
Court has discretion under this section to determine
the amount of the fine per violation. Rojero, 399
B.R. at 921. As discussed above, Defendant viol-
ated 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2) a minimum of thirteen
times by giving legal advice to the debtors.
Taking into account that this is the first case
brought before this Court involving a violation by
Mr. Mclntire of 11 U.S.C. § 110, and the nature of
the violations, the Court finds that a fine of $150.00
for each violation is appropriate, and that a total
fine of $1,950.00 based on these violations should
be assessed against Defendant.':Nll

FN8. See, e.g., 11 U.S.C. § 110(i) and (I ).
See also In re Rojero, 399 B.R. 913, 918
(Bankr.D.N.M.2008) (noting that “[u]nder
11 U.S.C. § 110, persons who negligently
or fraudulently prepare bankruptcy peti-
tions on behalf of debtors or fail to comply
with the requirements under that section
are subject to the imposition of penal-
ties.”).

FN9. Section 110(I )(1) provides:

A bankruptcy petition preparer who fails
to comply with any provision of subsec-
tion (b), (c), (d), (€), (), (9), or (h) may
be fined not more than $500 for each
such failure.

11 U.S.C. § 110(l )(1).

In this case, as discussed above, Defend-
ant violated subsection (€) by providing
his clients with legal advice.

FN10. Selecting state law exemptions and
applying the state exemption statute to the
debtor's property: 7 times Advising a debt-
or that his or her taxes would be dis-
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charged in the bankruptcy: 2 times Ad-
vising a debtor whether to file under
Chapter 7 or Chapter 13:2 times Advising
a debtor to enter into a reaffirmation agree-
ment: 2 times.

FN11. Cf. Bernales, 345 B.R. at 227
(imposing a total fine of $2000 as a suffi-
cient amount in light of the bankruptcy pe-
tition preparer's “extensive failures’
without fixing a fine and multiplying it by
the number of violations).

[8] Fines assessed pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 110(
I )(1) must be tripled if the Court finds that the
bankruptcy petition preparer “advised the debtor to
exclude assets or income that should have been in-
cluded on applicable schedules.” 11 U.S.C. § 110(l
)(2) (providing that “[t]he court shall triple ...")
(emphasis added). Defendant violated this section
by advising Ms. Mares that her income did not need
to be reported on Schedule |. She did not heed his
advice, but he nevertheless gave it. In addition,
Pamela Brown, on behalf of Defendant, advised
Ms. Norfolk that she did not need to list her resid-
ence on Schedule A. The Court will triple the fines
attributable to these two violations. The total fine
assessed against the Defendant under 11 U.S.C. §
110(1 )(1) and (2) is $2,550.00.7 12

FN12. (thirteen violations x $150.00 =
$1,950.00) + (two violations of $100.00 x
3 = $600.00) = $2,550.00.

[9] In addition, when a bankruptcy petition pre-
parer violates 11 U.S.C. 8§ 110 “or commits any act
that the court finds to be fraudulent, unfair, or de-
ceptive” the Court shall award damages to the debt-
or upon motion by the United States trustee. 11
U.S.C. § 110(i)(1) (emphasis added). Such damages
are:

(A) the debtor's actual damages,
(B) the greater of —

(i) $2,000; or
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(ii) twice the amount paid by the debtor to the
bankruptcy petition preparer for the preparer's
services; and

(C) reasonable attorneys fees and costs in mov-
ing for damages under this subsection.

11 U.S.C. § 110(i)(1).

The sanction imposed under this section is
mandatory. Dispensing legal advice contrary
to the constraints of *54111 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2) is
tantamount to the unauthorized practice of law and
can constitute fraudulent, unfair, or deceptive prac-
tices within the meaning of 11 U.S.C. § 110(i)(1).

4 The Court finds that by giving legal advice
that Defendant is neither qualified nor licensed un-
der the State of New Mexico to provide, Defendant
has engaged in conduct that is “fraudulent, unfair,
or deceptive” within the meaning of 11 U.S.C. §
110(i)(1). Thus, under 11 U.S.C. § 110(i)(1), it is
appropriate to order Defendant to pay each debtor
$2,000.00.

FN13. See Rojero, 399 B.R. at 921 (stating
that “[u]pon a finding of a fraudulent, un-
fair, or deceptive act, the sanction imposed
under 11 U.S.C. 8§ 110(i)(1) is mandat-
ory.”); In re Jarvis, 351 B.R. 894, 898
(Bankr.E.D.Tenn.2006) (stating that “[t]his
section requires the imposition of sanctions
by the court for a violation of § 110 if the
violation is brought to the court's attention
by the United States Trustee” and noting
further that “[t]he language of this section
is mandatory.”).

FN14. See Rojero, 399 B.R. a 920
(concluding that, by giving legal advice to
the debtor in violation of § 110(e)(2)(B),
the bankruptcy petition preparer committed
a fraudulent, deceptive, or unfair act that
subjected the bankruptcy petition preparer
to a sanction of $2,000 under 11 U.S.C. §
110(3i)(1)(B)(i)); Bernales, 345 B.R. at 215
(noting that “[b]y prohibiting the offering
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of ‘legal advice, 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2)
must be understood as a general prohibi-
tion against the practice of law by bank-
ruptcy petition preparers, except where
otherwise permitted by applicable law.”).
See also, Reynoso, 315 B.R. at 553
(engaging in the unauthorized practice of
law constitutes “fraudulent, unfair, and de-
ceptive conduct.”); In re Moffett, 263 B.R.
805, 815 (Bankr.W.D.Ky.2001)
(concluding that “[b]ecause [the bank-
ruptcy petition preparer] ... engaged in the
unauthorized practice of law ... she has
also committed fraudulent, unfair, or de-
ceptive acts in violation of 11 U.S.C. §
110(i)(2).”); Moore v. Jencks (In re
Moore), 232 B.R. 1, 8 (Bankr.D.Me.1999)
(holding “that a bankruptcy petition pre-
parer's unlawful dispensation of legal ad-
vice constitutes a ‘fraudulent, unfair, or de-
ceptive act’ within the meaning of §
110(i)(2)."); In re Gomez, 259 B.R. 379,
386 (Bankr.D.Col0.2001) (stating that
“[f]or a petition preparer to offer legal ex-
pertise or to provide legal information,
analysis or advice is patently unfair and
deceptive to debtors.”); In re Guttierez,
248 B.R. 287, 294 (Bankr.W.D.Tex.2000)
(finding that the bankruptcy petition pre-
parer “engaged in fraudulent and deceptive
conduct when she both offered and
provided legal services without a law li-
cense.”).

FN15. See 11 U.S.C. & 110(i)(1),
(providing that on the motion of the United
States trustee, and after notice and a hear-
ing, “the court shall order the bankruptcy
petition preparer to pay to the debtor ...”)
(emphasis added).

Defendant should be enjoined from engaging in fur-
ther conduct that violates 11 U.S.C. § 110

[10] Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 110(j)(2)(A), the
Court may enjoin a bankruptcy petition preparer
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from engaging in conduct that violates 11 U.S.C. §
110 upon a finding that the bankruptcy petition pre-
parer has 1) “engaged in conduct in violation of this
section,” 2) misrepresented his experience or edu-
cation as a bankruptcy petition preparer; or 3)
“engaged in any other fraudulent, unfair, or decept-
ive conduct;” and, that an injunction is appropriate
in order to prevent the bankruptcy petition preparer
from further violating 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2). 11
U.S.C. 8§ 110(j)(2)(A)(i). Given the numerous, con-
sistent violations of 11 U.S.C. § 110(e)(2), includ-
ing Mr. Mclntire's advice to debtors to commence a
case under chapter 7 instead of chapter 13, his se-
lection and application of the exemption scheme,
his advice to reaffirm a debt and that certain tax
debts are dischargeable, and his statement to his cli-
ents that his services would be the equivaent to
those of an attorney but at a greatly reduced cost,
the Court finds that it is appropriate to issue an in-
junction enjoining Timothy Mclntire, or any person
or entity acting in concert with him, from offering a
potential bankruptcy debtor any legal advice in vi-
olation of 11 U.S.C. § 110(€)(2).

Whether to enjoin Defendant from acting as a bank-
ruptcy petition preparer

[11] Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 110(j)(2)(B), the
Court can also enjoin a bankruptcy petition preparer
from acting as a bankruptcy petition preparer. That
section provides:

*542 If the court finds that a bankruptcy petition
preparer has continually engaged in conduct de-
scribed in subclause (1), (11), or (111) T8 of
clause (i) and that an injunction prohibiting
such conduct would not be sufficient to prevent
such person's interference with the proper admin-
istration of this title, has not paid a penalty im-
posed under this section, or failed to disgorge all
fees ordered by the court the court may enjoin the
person from acting as a bankruptcy petition pre-
parer.

FN16. Subsection (I) covers conduct viol-
ative of 11 U.S.C. § 110; Subsection (II)
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concerns a bankruptcy petition preparer's
misrepresentation of his experience or edu-
cation as a bankruptcy petition preparer;
and Subsection (l11) addresses fraudulent,
unfair or deceptive conduct on the part of a
bankruptcy petition preparer. 11 U.S.C. §

110()(2)(A)()(1), (1) and (111).

11 U.S.C. § 110(j)(2)(B) (emphasis added).

Plaintiff asserts that the evidence presented in
connection with these seven cases is sufficient for
the Court to enjoin Defendant from acting as a
bankruptcy petition preparer. Plaintiff maintains
that the evidence establishes that the Defendant
acted in concert with Pamela Brown in violation
of an injunction entered pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §
110 in a consolidated adversary proceeding in
which she was the Defendant. Based on the evid-
ence now before the Court in connection with this
adversary proceeding, this Court disagrees.

Last year, a Bankruptcy Court injunction was
issued against Pamela Brown pursuant to 11 U.S.C.
§ 110. See Exhibit 45 (“Injunction”). The evidence
offered at trial in this adversary proceeding demon-
strated that Pamela Brown also worked with De-
fendant, and met with several of the clients.
However, the evidence now before the Court is in-
sufficient to demonstrate that Pamela Brown con-
tinued to meet with clients at The Bankruptcy Store
after the issuance of the Injunction. The petition
dates for Ms. Norfolk, Ms. Harlan, Ms. Booky Ms.
Chacon, and Ms. Sanchez al pre-date the date of
the Injunction. Ms. Dickey's petition was filed after
the date of issuance of the Injunction, but her testi-
mony reflected that she met only with Timothy
Mclntire and not Pamela Brown. Mr. Mares' peti-
tion was filed one month after the Injunction was
issued, but Ms. Mares testified that only the first
meeting was with Pamela Brown, so it is possible
that this meeting occurred before the date of the In-
junction. Although the testimony reveals that Mr.
Mclntire and Ms. Brown worked together, there is
no evidence that Mr. Mclntire knew of the Injunc-
tion, but nevertheless continued to assist clients in
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preparing bankruptcy petitions in flagrant disregard
for the existing Injunction against Pamela Brown.

Under these circumstances, the Court declines
to issue an injunction that enjoins Defendant from
acting as a bankruptcy petition preparer at this junc-
ture. Should Defendant fail to comply with the
Court's ruling by continuing to offer legal advice to
potential bankruptcy debtors contrary to 11 U.S.C.
§ 110(e)(2), or by failing to pay the fines and penal -
ties imposed by this Court, the Court may consider
whether to impose a permanent injunction against
Defendant that prohibits Defendant from acting as a
bankruptcy petition preparer in accordance with 11
U.S.C. § 110(j)(2)(B).

This opinion constitutes the Court's findings of
fact and conclusions of law issued in accordance
with Rule 7052, Fed.R.Bankr.P. An order consist-
ent with this Memorandum Opinion will be entered.

Bkrtcy.D.N.M.,2011.
In re Sanchez
446 B.R. 531
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